
Agenda

Standards Committee

Date: Tuesday 11 September 2018

Time: 2.00 pm

Place: Plowman Room - Oxford Town Hall

For any further information please contact the Committee 
Services Officer: 
Andrew Brown, Committee and Member Services Manager
Telephone: 01865 252230
Email: democraticservices@oxford.gov.uk

If you intend to record the meeting, it would be helpful if you speak to the 
Committee and Member Services Manager before the start of the meeting.



Standards Committee
Membership
Chair* 

Vice-Chair*

Councillor Shaista Aziz
Councillor James Fry
Councillor Michael Gotch
Councillor Dr Joe McManners
Councillor Susanna Pressel Apologies
Councillor Sian Taylor Apologies
Councillor Dick Wolff
Councillor Christine Simm for Councillor Sian Taylor
Councillor John Tanner for Councillor Susanna Pressel

The full membership is seven councillors and the quorum for this meeting is three members.  
Substitute members are permitted.
These are shown above where notification of apologies and substitutes were received before 
the agenda was published. Apologies and substitutions sent after publication will be reported 
at the meeting. 
*Substitutes for the Chair and Vice-chair do not take on these roles.

Copies of this agenda

Reference copies are available to consult in the Town Hall Reception. Agendas are published 6 
working days before the meeting and the draft minutes a few days after.

All agendas, reports and minutes are available online and can be:
- viewed on our website – mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk
- downloaded from our website
- viewed using the computers in Customer Services, St Aldate’s, or
- subscribed to electronically by registering online at mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk

https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20169/council_meetings
http://mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk/ielogon.aspx?lp=1&RPID=2852798&HPID=2852798&Forms=1&META=mgSubscribeLogon


AGENDA

Pages

1  Apologies for Absence

2  Declarations of Interest

3  Election of Chair for the Council year 2018-19

Recommendation:
To elect a Chair for the Council year 2018-19.

4  Election of Vice-Chair for the Council year 2018-19

Recommendation:
To elect a Vice-Chair for the Council year 2018-19.

5  Update on ethical standards and Oxford City Council's 
response to the Committee on Standards in Public Life - 
Local Government Ethical Standards Consultation

1 - 8

Report of: Anita Bradley, Monitoring Officer

Purpose: 
This report informs the Committee of the Committee on Standards in 
Public Life – Local Government Ethical Standards Consultation and the 
Oxford City Council response to that consultation.

Recommendation: 
That the Standards Committee notes the report.

6  Appointment of a Parish Council representative as a non-
voting member of the Standards Committee

9 - 12

Report of: Anita Bradley, Monitoring Officer

Purpose:
This report details the proposal for Parish Council representation on the 
Standards Committee following the retirement of the previous 
representative.

Recommendation:
That, subject to formal confirmation of the nomination from Littlemore 
Parish Council, the Standards Committee recommends Full Council to:



appoint Councillor Dorian Hancock of Littlemore Parish Council as the co-
opted, non-voting member of the Standards Committee representing the 
four Parish Councils in Oxford until May 2020.

7  Arrangements for the appointment of Independent 
Persons to the Standards Committee in 2019

13 - 16

Report of: Anita Bradley, Monitoring Officer

Purpose:
This report informs the Committee of the proposed arrangements for the 
appointment of Independent Persons in 2019.

Recommendation:
That the Standards Committee notes and approves the Monitoring 
Officer’s proposals for the proposed arrangements for the appointment of 
Independent Persons in 2019.

8  Dispensations - Localism Act 2011 17 - 20

Report of: Anita Bradley, Monitoring Officer

Purpose:
This report proposes that the Committee recommends Full Council to 
approve a number of general dispensations under the Localism Act 2011; 
such dispensations to remain in force for a period of four years; in the 
interest of good governance and the effective conduct of public affairs.

Recommendation:
That the Standards Committee recommends Full Council to:
a) approve, under Section 33 of the Localism Act 2011, the general 

dispensations, listed at paragraph 4 of this report, for all elected 
and co-opted Members of Oxford City Council;

b) agree that those general dispensations should remain in force for a 
period of four years; and

c) agree that the granting of individual dispensations under Section 33 of 
the Localism Act 2011 be delegated to the Monitoring Officer.

9  Code of Conduct Standards Report 21 - 28

Report of: Anita Bradley, Monitoring Officer.

Purpose:
To advise the Committee of the number of complaints received under the 
Members’ Code of Conduct from 1 November 2017 until 31 August 2018 
which have or are to be considered by the Head of Law and Governance 



(in her statutory capacity as the authority’s Monitoring Officer) and the 
Independent Persons. The report also notes the outcome, where 
complaints have been concluded.

Recommendation:
That the Standards Committee notes the content of the report.

10  Minutes of the previous meeting

Recommendation:
The Standards Committee is recommended to approve the minutes of the 
meeting held on 1 November 2017.

11  Dates and times of future meetings

The Monitoring Officer will speak to this item.

The Committee is invited to identify a preferred day and time for future 
meetings.

12  Matters exempt from publication

If the Committee wishes to exclude the press and the public from the 
meeting during consideration of any aspects of the preceding or following 
agenda items it will be necessary for the Committee to pass a resolution in 
accordance with the provisions of Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 specifying the grounds on which their presence 
could involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as described in 
specific paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act if and so long, as 
in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.



Councillors declaring interests 
General duty
You must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests when the meeting reaches the item 
on the agenda headed “Declarations of Interest” or as soon as it becomes apparent to you.
What is a disclosable pecuniary interest?
Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to your* employment; sponsorship (ie payment for 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a councillor or towards your 
election expenses); contracts; land in the Council’s area; licenses for land in the Council’s 
area; corporate tenancies; and securities.  These declarations must be recorded in each 
councillor’s Register of Interests which is publicly available on the Council’s website.
Declaring an interest
Where any matter disclosed in your Register of Interests is being considered at a meeting, 
you must declare that you have an interest.  You should also disclose the nature as well as 
the existence of the interest.
If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, after having declared it at the meeting you 
must not participate in discussion or voting on the item and must withdraw from the meeting 
whilst the matter is discussed.
Members’ Code of Conduct and public perception
Even if you do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter, the Members’ Code of 
Conduct says that a member “must serve only the public interest and must never 
improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on any person including yourself” and that 
“you must not place yourself in situations where your honesty and integrity may be 
questioned”.  What this means is that the matter of interests must be viewed within the 
context of the Code as a whole and regard should continue to be paid to the perception of 
the public.

*Disclosable pecuniary interests that must be declared are not only those of the member her or himself but 
also those member’s spouse, civil partner or person they are living with as husband or wife or as if they were 
civil partners.



.

To: Standards Committee
Date: 11 September 2018
Report of: Monitoring Officer / Head of Law and Governance
Title of Report: The Oxford City Council response to the Committee 

on Standards in Public Life – Local Government 
Ethical Standards Consultation 

Summary and recommendations
Purpose of report: This report informs the Committee of the Committee 

on Standards in Public Life – Local Government 
Ethical Standards Consultation and the Oxford City 
Council response to that consultation.

Key decision: No

Recommendation: 
That the Standards Committee notes the report.
Appendix 1 The Oxford City Council response to the Committee 

on Standards in Public Life – Local Government 
Ethical Standards Consultation

Introduction and background 
1. The Committee on Standards in Public Life is undertaking a review of local 

government ethical standards. The Committee on Standards in Public Life 
considers that robust standards arrangements are needed to safeguard local 
democracy, maintain high standards of conduct, and to protect ethical practice in 
local government. The consultation period ran from 29 January to 18 May 2018.

2. The Committee on Standards in Public Life welcomed submissions from members 
of the public but the consultation was aimed particularly at the following 
stakeholders, both individually and corporately:

 local authorities and standards committees
 local authority members (for example, Parish Councillors, District Councillors)
 local authority officials (for example, Monitoring Officers)
 Independent Persons appointed under section 28(7) of the Localism Act 2011
 think tanks with an interest or expertise in local government
 academics with interest or expertise in local government
 representative bodies or groups related to local government

1

Agenda Item 5



3. The terms of reference for the review are to:

 examine the structures, processes and practices in local government in 
England for:

o maintaining codes of conduct for local councillors
o investigating alleged breaches fairly and with due process
o enforcing codes and imposing sanctions for misconduct
o declaring interests and managing conflicts of interest
o whistleblowing

 assess whether the existing structures, processes and practices are 
conducive to high standards of conduct in local government

 make any recommendations for how they can be improved

 note any evidence of intimidation of councillors, and make recommendations 
for any measures that could be put in place to prevent and address such 
intimidation

4. The review will consider all levels of local government in England, including town 
and parish councils, principal authorities, combined authorities (including Metro 
Mayors) and the Greater London Authority (including the Mayor of London).

5.  Details of the review can be found at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/local-government-ethical-standards-
stakeholder-consultation. 

6.  The Oxford City Council response to the review is attached at Appendix 1.

7. As there was no scheduled meeting of the Standards Committee during the 
consultation period the Oxford City Council response was prepared by the 
Monitoring Officer and the Committee and Member Services Manager.  

8. The Committee on Standards in Public Life website states that they received 317 
responses to the consultation and that they will publish the report by the end of 
2018.  The Committee and Member Services officers will monitor this and ensure 
that the report is circulated to all members of the Standards Committee once it is 
published.

Legal implications
9. None – for information only.

Financial implications
10.None – for information only.

Risk management
11.None – for information only.

Report author Catherine Phythian

2

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/local-government-ethical-standards-stakeholder-consultation
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/local-government-ethical-standards-stakeholder-consultation
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/local-government-ethical-standards-stakeholder-consultation


Job title Committee and Members Services Officer
Service area or department Law and Governance
Telephone 01865 252402  
e-mail cphythian@oxford.gov.uk 

3

mailto:cphythian@oxford.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1
The Committee on Standards in Public Life – Local Government Ethical Standards 
Consultation 

Oxford City Council response

A. Are the existing structures, processes and practices in place working to 
ensure high standards of conduct by local councillors? If not, please say why.
Processes for the assessment of complaints and complaint hearings are generally 
working well.  There is some confusion about the role of independent persons.  
Standards Committees can no longer be chaired by an independent person and this 
can be seen by the public as a retrograde step which dilutes public accountability 
and the independence of the standards committee from the elected members.

B. What, if any, are the most significant gaps in the current ethical standards 
regime for local government?
The main weakness in the standards regime is the limited range of sanctions that 
can be applied, which are not strong enough to provide an effective deterrent. See 
also answer F.

Codes of conduct

C. Are local authority adopted codes of conduct for councillors clear and easily 
understood? Do the codes cover an appropriate range of behaviours? What 
examples of good practice, including induction processes, exist?
The rules around disclosable pecuniary interests and the Seven ‘Nolan’ Principles of 
Public Life are clear and easily understood.  However, adopted codes have not kept 
pace with recent technological and societal changes and the range of behaviours 
covered is somewhat limited.  For example, it is not necessary that aspects such as 
bullying, the use of ICT equipment and social media are covered by all adopted 
codes and this has been left as local choice.

In terms of good practice, all Oxfordshire local authorities are covered by a single, 
jointly-agreed Code of Conduct.  This ensures that councillors who are members of 
multiple authorities within the area are covered by a single code, providing clarity and 
consistency. 

D. A local authority has a statutory duty to ensure that its adopted code of 
conduct for councillors is consistent with the Seven Principles of Public Life 
and that it includes appropriate provision (as decided by the local authority) 
for registering and declaring councillors’ interests. Are these requirements 
appropriate as they stand? If not, please say why.
The Seven Principles of Public Life remain relevant and continue to form the basis of 
all adopted codes of conduct.  The compulsory provisions for registering and 
declaring interests are limited to disclosable pecuniary interests with no 
accompanying guidance.  This is quite a narrow range of interests that is subject to 

5



APPENDIX 1
interpretation by elected members and is unlikely to satisfy public perceptions and 
expectations of the kinds of interests that should be declared.  For example, there 
are no compulsory requirements around declaring other prejudicial interests, which 
may warrant further consideration.

Investigations and decisions on allegations

E. Are allegations of councillor misconduct investigated and decided fairly and 
with due process?

i. What processes do local authorities have in place for investigating and 
deciding upon allegations? Do these processes meet requirements for 
due process? Should any additional safeguards be put in place to 
ensure due process?

ii. Is the current requirement that the views of an Independent Person 
must be sought and taken into account before deciding on an 
allegation sufficient to ensure the objectivity and fairness of the 
decision process? Should this requirement be strengthened? If so, 
how?

iii. Monitoring Officers are often involved in the process of investigating 
and deciding upon code breaches. Could Monitoring Officers be 
subject to conflicts of interest or undue pressure when doing so? How 
could Monitoring Officers be protected from this risk?

i) The Council’s arrangements for dealing with allegations of breaches of its Code 
of Conduct for Members are summarised below:

Once a complaint about an alleged breach of the Code has been 
received, the Monitoring Officer will take advice from an independent 
person and decide within 21 days whether or not the threshold has 
been reached for an investigation.  

If the Monitoring Officer’s decision is that the complaint warrants an 
investigation then a person will be appointed to undertake the 
investigation and produce a draft report.  The report will be sent, in 
confidence, to the complainant and the subject of the complaint for 
comment.  The Monitoring Officer will then review the report and decide 
which course of action to take from the following options:

1. No further action.
2. A local resolution (e.g. an apology or remedial action).
3. A Standards Committee hearing.

These arrangements while not the most detailed are considered to be sound and 
to appropriately balance the need to treat allegations seriously with the need to 
ensure that an appropriate outcome can be achieved without undue delay.  

6



APPENDIX 1

ii) It is right that the independent person’s view should be sought to provide an 
independent opinion and public perspective on the matter at hand.  This can help 
to inform the Monitoring Officer’s decision about whether to investigate an alleged 
breach but this decision should continue to rest with the Monitoring Officer.  

iii) The Monitoring Officer has to be extremely robust when dealing with complaints 
against senior members of an Authority.  The statutory protection afforded to 
Monitoring Officers could be strengthened to encapsulate a specific category of 
when they are dealing with complaints against members.  In the event of a 
conflict of interest it is useful to have reciprocal arrangements with other 
Monitoring Officers to step in, but depending on the circumstances there could be 
reluctance to wish to do so.

Sanctions

F. Are existing sanctions for councillor misconduct sufficient?
The sanctions currently available are as follows:
1. Censure or reprimand;
2. Publish findings in respect of the member’s conduct;
3. Report findings to Council or to Parish Council for information;
4. Recommend to the member’s group Leader (or in the case of un-grouped 
members, recommend to Council or to Committees) that he/she be removed from any 
or all Committee or Sub-Committees of the Council;
5. Recommend to the Leader of the Council that the member be removed from the 
Cabinet, or removed from particular Portfolio responsibilities;
6. Recommend to Council that the member be replaced as Executive Leader;
7. Instruct the Monitoring Officer to or recommend that the Parish Council arrange 
training for the member.

Additional sanctions which would strengthen the standards regime should include the 
powers to suspend members from office and to suspend members’ allowances for a 
period of time. Currently there are insufficient sanctions to deal with more extreme 
behaviours such as serious bullying, dishonesty or conviction other than under s34 
Localism Act 2011.

Declaring interests and conflicts of interest

G. Are existing arrangements to declare councillors’ interests and manage 
conflicts of interest satisfactory? If not please say why.

i. A local councillor is under a legal duty to register any pecuniary 
interests (or those of their spouse or partner), and cannot participate in 
discussion or votes that engage a disclosable pecuniary interest, nor 
take any further steps in relation to that matter, although local 

7



APPENDIX 1
authorities can grant dispensations under certain circumstances. Are 
these statutory duties appropriate as they stand?

ii. What arrangements do local authorities have in place to declare 
councillors’ interests, and manage conflicts of interest that go beyond 
the statutory requirements? Are these satisfactory? If not, please say 
why.

i) See answer C.  In addition, further explanation and guidance on disclosable 
pecuniary interests would be welcome, including, for example, roles on other 
organisations where the councillor receives expenses or payment in kind.

ii) Adopted codes could be clearer about expectations in relation to conflicts that are 
not disclosable pecuniary interests.  Further guidance, including a model Code of 
Conduct, would be welcome. 

Whistleblowing

H. What arrangements are in place for whistleblowing, by the public, councillors, 
and officials? Are these satisfactory?
The Whistle Blowing Policy forms part of the Council’s Constitution.  It is reviewed 
annually and is considered to be satisfactory.

Improving standards

I. What steps could local authorities take to improve local government ethical 
standards?

1. Ensuring that high ethical standards are supported at the top of the organisation by 
both members and officers.

2. Ensuring that a Standards Committee or its equivalent is an essential part of the 
local authority framework and reports at least annually to full Council.  The 
Committee should have a clear and meaningful role in relation to upholding high 
ethical standards.

J. What steps could central government take to improve local government ethical 
standards?

1. Broaden the range of interests that must be declared. 
2. Broaden the range of sanctions that can be applied.
3. Produce a model Code of Conduct. 

Intimidation of local councillors

K. What is the nature, scale, and extent of intimidation towards local councillors?
i. What measures could be put in place to prevent and address this 

intimidation?
Council officers have little experience of any intimidation councillors may be 
subjected to when they are in their local community or acting as local politicians (e.g. 
when they are out canvassing).   The most serious abuse seems to occur online and 
also involves close members of any politician’s family being subjected to 
unwarranted abuse.

8



.

To: Standards Committee
Date: 11 September 2018
Report of: Monitoring Officer 
Title of Report: Parish Council representation on the Standards 

Committee 

Summary and recommendations
Purpose of report: This report details the proposal for Parish Council 

representation on the Standards Committee following 
the retirement of the previous representative.

Key decision: No

Recommendation: 
That, subject to formal confirmation of the nomination from Littlemore 
Parish Council, the Standards Committee recommends that Full Council 
appoints Councillor Dorian Hancock of Littlemore Parish Council as the co-
opted, non-voting member of the Standards Committee representing the 
four Parish Councils in Oxford until May 2020.

Introduction and background 
1. The Oxford City Council Standards Committee membership provides for one co-

opted (non-voting member) to represent the four Parish councils in Oxford.

2. That position is now vacant following the retirement of ex-Parish Councillor, Gordon 
Roper. 

3. The Parish Councils may agree jointly on a single nominee or they may submit 
individual nominations from each Parish Council. 

4. There are no rules concerning the qualifications or but common sense suggests that 

 the appointment would be for the duration of the representative’s term of 
office on the Parish Council; this is to provide a degree of consistency and 
continuity

 the appointment should not be for a dual-hatted City and Parish Councillor as 
this would result in a politically unbalanced committee

5. At the Parish Council Forum in July 2018 the Parish Councils were invited to submit 
nominations to the vacancy.

9

Agenda Item 6



6. Only one Parish Council has submitted a provisional nomination: 

 Councillor Dorian Hancock, Littlemore Parish Council

7.  Littlemore Parish Council is expected to ratify this nomination at their Parish Council 
meeting on 11 September 2018.

8. Councillor Hancock’s current term of office at Littlemore Parish Council ends in May 
2020. 

Legal implications
9. None.

Financial implications
10.None.

Risk management
11.The risk management issues are set out in the body of the report.

Report author Catherine Phythian

Job title Committee and Members Services Officer
Service area or department Law and Governance
Telephone 01865 252402  
e-mail cphythian@oxford.gov.uk 

10

mailto:cphythian@oxford.gov.uk


 

July 2018 – for Parish Council Forum 

 
 
Nominations for a Parish Council representative to serve on the 
Standards Committee 
 
The Oxford City Council Standards Committee membership provides for 1 co-opted 
and non-voting member representing the Parish councils in Oxford. 
 
That position is now vacant following the retirement of ex-Blackbird Leys Parish 
Councillor, Gordon Roper. 
 
The four Parish Councils are invited to submit nominations to the vacancy. 
 
The Parish Councils may agree jointly on a single nominee or they may submit 
individual nominations from each Parish Council. 
 
Nominations, including confirmation of a nil return, should be sent 
to: democraticservices@oxford.gov.uk by no later than 31 July 2018. 
 
There are no criteria concerning appointments but common sense suggests that:  

• the appointment would be for the duration of the representative’s term of 
office on the Parish Council; this is to provide a degree of consistency and 
continuity 

• the appointment should not be for a double-hatted City and Parish Councillor 
as this would result in a politically unbalanced committee and blur the different 
roles on the Committee 

 
The Standards Committee will formally co-opt a Parish representative at the start of 
its next meeting (this is likely to be in August 2018).   
Details of the current remit and membership of the Standards Committee are 
attached for information. 
 
 
 
 
Andrew Brown 
Committee and Member Services Manager 
Oxford City Council  
Tel: 01865 252230 
Email: abrown2@oxford.gov.uk 

11

mailto:democraticservices@oxford.gov.uk
mailto:abrown2@oxford.gov.uk


 

July 2018 – for Parish Council Forum 

 
 
Oxford City Council Standards Committee 
 
The Standards Committee is responsible for promoting high standards of conduct 
and for considering complaints that members of the City Council or parish councils 
have not adhered to national standards of conduct. 
The Standards Committee has the following responsibilities:  
(a) Considering complaints of breaches of the Members’ Code of Conduct  
(b) Making recommendations to Oxford City Council on the adoption or revision of 

the Members’ Code of Conduct   
(c) Making recommendations to Oxford City Council on complaints handling 

arrangements in respect of breaches of the Members’ Code of Conduct  
(d) Considering requests from councillors for dispensation from being precluded from 

participation in a meeting  
(e) To receive reports from and advise the City Council’s Monitoring Officer on 

training for members on ethical issues  
 
Membership of the Committee: 
Voting members:  7 City Councillors 

• Councillor Shaista Aziz    
• Councillor James Fry    
• Councillor Michael Gotch    
• Councillor Dr Joe McManners    
• Councillor Susanna Pressel    
• Councillor Sian Taylor    
• Councillor Dick Wolff    

Non-voting members: 
1 co-opted member representing the Parish councils in Oxford 

• vacancy 
4 independent members  

• Chris Ballinger  
• Godfrey Cole  
• Jill McCleery  
• Ben Simpson  

 
Quorum: 3 City Councillors 
Frequency: Meetings are scheduled as required. 

12



.

To: Standards Committee
Date: 11 September 2018
Report of: Monitoring Officer 
Title of Report: Appointment of Independent Persons in 2019 

Summary and recommendations
Purpose of report: This report informs the Committee of the proposed 

arrangements for the appointment of Independent 
Persons in 2019.

Key decision: No

Recommendation: 
That the Standards Committee notes and approves the Monitoring Officer’s 
proposals for the proposed arrangements for the appointment of 
Independent Persons in 2019. 

Introduction and background 
1. The Localism Act 2011 (“The Act”) (Section 28, subsections (7) and (8)) requires the 

Council to appoint one or more Independent Persons and The Local Authorities 
(Standing Orders)(England)(Amendment) Regulations 2015 (“The Regulations”) 
require the Council to invite relevant Independent Persons to a Panel (being a 
committee appointed by the authority under section 102(4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972) for the purposes of advising the authority on matters relating to dismissal 
of relevant officers of the authority. Such invitation must be issued to all relevant 
Independent Persons with a view to appointing at least two Independent Persons to 
the Panel. The relevant officers to which these provisions apply by legislation are 
the head of the authority’s paid service, the chief finance officer or the monitoring 
officer.

2. The Independent Person has four roles to perform:
Standards

i. The views of an Independent Person must be sought and taken into account 
by the Council before it makes a finding that any Member has failed to 
comply with its code of conduct or imposes any sanction; 

ii. The views of an Independent Person may be sought on whether to 
investigate a complaint and how to deal with a particular allegation; and 

13

Agenda Item 7



iii. Any Member against whom an allegation has been made (including a parish 
councillor) may consult the Independent Person regarding that allegation.

Dismissal of Relevant Officers
iv. The Independent Persons may be appointed to a Panel which would provide 

advice, views or recommendations to the Council before a vote was taken at 
a meeting on whether or not to approve the dismissal of a relevant officer

3. Individuals appointed as Independent Persons must be recruited through a
formal procedure. To be compliant:

a) The vacancy must be advertised in such manner as the authority considers is 
likely to bring it to the attention of the public;

b) An applicant has to submit a formal application to be appointed as an 
Independent Person, and

c) The Independent Person’s appointment must be approved by ‘a majority of the 
members of the authority.’

The last requirement (c) means that the appointment must be made by the Full
Council.

4. An Independent Person must not be: 
a) A member, co-opted member, or officer of Oxford City Council; or 
b) A member, co-opted member, or officer of a parish council that falls within the 

City Council’s area; or
c) A relative or close friend of any of the above.

5. In addition to the restrictions in the preceding paragraph, an Independent Person 
must not have been, at any time in the five years preceding the date of their 
appointment:

a) A member, co-opted member, or officer of Oxford City Council; or
b) A member, co-opted member, or officer of a parish council parish council that 

falls within the City Council’s area.

Present position
6. To comply with the requirements of the Act, the Council undertook a recruitment 

exercise in the summer of 2012.  At that time an exemption was granted for an 
Independent Member who had sat on the Council’s previous Standards Committee 
to re-apply for the position. On 16 July 2012 Council resolved to appoint the 
following persons, each for a five year term to July 2017, as the Council’s 
Independent Persons for Standards/Members Code of Conduct matters under 
Section 28 of the Localism Act 2011: 

 Chris Ballinger (re-appointed)
 Godfrey Cole
 Jill McLeery 
 Ben Simpson

14



7. In July 2015 Council agreed that the role of the Independent Persons should be 
expanded such that they should be invited to advise the Disciplinary Committee 
whenever there is the prospect of dismissal of a statutory officer. This revision to the 
Constitution relating to changes to arrangements for the dismissal of statutory 
officers following new statutory provisions set out in the Regulations came into 
effect on 11 May 2015.  

8. In July 2017 Council resolved to authorise the Monitoring Officer to extend the terms 
of office of the Council’s four Independent Persons for code of conduct matters for a 
further two years to July 2019. 

9. Council determined to extend the appointments without a fresh recruitment process 
for the following reasons:
a) The original appointments were made following an advertisement, application 

and interview process and with a positive vote by a majority of councillors as 
required by the Act. 

b) The Act does not prescribe a time limit on the terms of office of independent 
persons and these are therefore within the discretion of the Council.

c)  Since their appointment, the current Independent Persons have attended 
training, carried out their roles diligently, and gained experience from which the 
Council can benefit for a further period. 

Proposals for 2019
10. It is proposed that Council should undertake a formal recruitment exercise in the 

spring of 2019 for the appointment of Independent Persons based on the following 
principles:

 The recruitment exercise to include advertisement, application and interview 
process 

 The interview panel to consist of the Monitoring Officer, Chair of the Standards 
Committee and one opposition member from the Standards Committee

 The appointments to be confirmed at Full Council in July 2019 with a positive 
vote by a majority of councillors

 The appointments to be for 5 years (to July 2024)

 The Independent Person “job description” to be approved by the Monitoring 
Officer to be expanded to include considering evidence and advising Council 
on the course of action for the Disciplinary Committee to follow whenever there 
is the prospect of dismissal of a statutory officer

 The statutory restrictions detailed at paragraph 5 above shall apply

 Any application from an existing Independent Person to be considered on its 
merits

Legal implications
11. To comply with the combined requirements of the Act and the Regulations, the 

Council should appoint at least two Independent Persons.

15



Financial implications
12. A decision to proceed with a recruitment exercise for the appointment of 

Independent Persons in 2019 will carry a modest financial burden which will be 
accommodated in the 2019/20 Member Support budget.

Risk management
13. Failing to appoint an Independent Person would place the Council in breach of its 

statutory duty under the Act and prevent the Monitoring Officer from dealing with 
complaints in accordance with the Council’s code of conduct complaints 
procedure. In addition in the event of there being a need to consider dismissal of a 
relevant officer and the Council not having appointed at least two Independent 
Persons the Council would be required to approach another local authority to seek 
to invite their appointed Independent Persons to form part of a Panel in 
accordance with Regulation 6 paragraph 5 of the Act.

Report author Catherine Phythian

Job title Committee and Members Services Officer
Service area or department Law and Governance
Telephone 01865 252402  
e-mail cphythian@oxford.gov.uk 

16

mailto:cphythian@oxford.gov.uk


.

To: Standards Committee
Date: 11 September 2018
Report of: Monitoring Officer / Head of Law and Governance
Title of Report: Dispensations - Localism Act 2011, Section 33

Summary and recommendations
Purpose of report: This report proposes that the Committee recommends 

Full Council to approve a number of general 
dispensations under the Localism Act 2011; such 
dispensations to remain in force for a period of four years; 
in the interest of good governance and the effective 
conduct of public affairs.

Key decision: No

Recommendation: 
That the Standards Committee recommends Full Council to:
a) approve, under Section 33 of the Localism Act 2011, the general 

dispensations, listed at paragraph 4 of this report, for all elected and co-opted 
Members of Oxford City Council;

b) agree that those general dispensations should remain in force for a period of 
four years; and

c) agree that the granting of individual dispensations under Section 33 of the 
Localism Act 2011 be delegated to the Monitoring Officer.

Introduction and background 
1. The Localism Act 2011 (‘the Act’) made significant changes to the Standards 

regime. Under the Act the Council has a statutory duty to promote and maintain high 
standards of conduct by both its Elected Members and co-opted Members. The 
Council must also adopt a Code of Conduct setting out the conduct expected of 
elected and co-opted Members whenever they act in their official capacity as a 
Member. 

2. On 23 May 2012 the Council introduced new arrangements for a non-statutory 
Standards Committee and adopted a Member Code of Conduct (‘the Code of 
Conduct’) which was compliant with the Act. The terms of reference of the 
Standards Committee are detailed at  section 7.8 of the Council’s Constitution and 
include the following provision:

17

Agenda Item 8



(d)  Considering requests from councillors for dispensation from being precluded 
from participation in a meeting

3. The Act prevents Members from participating in any business of the Council where 
they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) unless they have sought a 
dispensation under Section 33 of the Act. Applications must be made in writing and 
dispensations may be sought for a period of up to four years. Dispensations may 
be sought on the following grounds:

a) That so many Members of the decision making body have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest in a matter that the business of the meeting would be 
impeded

b) Without a dispensation the representation of different political groups on the 
body would be so upset as to alter the outcome of any vote

c) The dispensation is in the interests of persons living in the area
d) No Member of the Cabinet  would be able to participate on the matter 

without a dispensation
e) It is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation

General dispensations
4. It is proposed that general dispensations to speak and vote on the following items 

are granted to all Oxford City Council Members and co-opted Members and that 
those dispensations will remain in force until the next Council elections:

 Determining an allowance (including special responsibility allowances), 
travelling expense, payment or indemnity given to Members

 Housing: where the Member (or spouse or partner) holds a tenancy or lease 
with the Council as long as the matter does not relate to the particular tenancy 
or lease of the Member (their spouse or partner);

 Housing Benefit: where the Councillor (or spouse or partner) receives housing 
benefit;

 Any Ceremonial Honours given to Members;

 Setting the Council Tax or a precept under the Local Government and Finance 
Act 1992 (or any subsequent legislation); and 

 Setting a Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme or Local scheme for the 
payment of business rates (including eligibility for rebates and reductions) for 
the purposes of the Local Government Finance Act 2012 (or any subsequent 
legislation)

Council Tax
5.  Guidance issued by the Department for Communities and Local Government 

(DCLG) in 2012 (updated September 2013): Openness and transparency on 
personal interests states that:

"Any payment of, or liability to pay, council tax does not create a disclosable 
pecuniary interest as defined in the national rules; hence being a council tax 
payer does not mean that you need a dispensation to take part in the business of 
setting the council tax or precept or local arrangements for council tax support.

18



If you are a homeowner or tenant in the area of your council you will have 
registered, in accordance with the national rules, that beneficial interest in land. 
However, this disclosable pecuniary interest is not a disclosable pecuniary 
interest in the matter of setting the council tax or precept since decisions on the 
council tax or precept do not materially affect your interest in the land. For 
example, it does not materially affect the value of your home, your prospects of 
selling that home, or how you might use or enjoy that land.

Accordingly, you will not need a dispensation to take part in the business of 
setting the council tax or precept or local arrangements for council tax support, 
which is in any event a decision affecting the generality of the public in the area 
of your council, rather than you as an individual."

6.  In summary the DCLG view was that Members did not need a dispensation to take 
part in the business of setting the council tax or precept or local arrangements for 
council tax support because this is a decision affecting the generality of the public in 
the area rather than Members as individuals. 

7.  The dispensation for council tax relates to a Member’s DPI and does not affect a 
Member’s obligation under Section 106 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 
to declare and not vote if they are 2 months or more in arrears with their council tax 
when voting on setting the Council’s budget.

8. Historically the Council has relied on this DCLG guidance and has not sought 
dispensations for Members to take speak and vote on matters relating to council 
tax. However, as the DCLG guidance is not statutory and has not been tested in 
court the Monitoring Officer considers it prudent and transparent to include council 
tax in the general dispensation.

Delegation to the Monitoring Officer
9. The Standards Committee has not considered any applications for dispensation by 

individual Members since the introduction of these new arrangements in 2012. In all 
likelihood this is because there have been no instances when a dispensation was 
required.  However, it is possible that no formal applications have been submitted 
due to the length of time required to convene a meeting of the Standards Committee 
to consider and determine any such application and that some applications for a 
dispensation have stalled or been withdrawn due to lack of time. This is frustrating 
for Members and for officers trying to implement the rules and convening an urgent 
meeting of the Standards Committee to consider any such application is not a good 
use of Council resources or in the public interest.

10.To address this specific concern about the timely consideration of an application for 
dispensation it is recommended that the granting of dispensations to an individual 
member under Section 33 of the Act be delegated to the Monitoring Officer. 

11. Such delegation would operate on the following basis:

 The Monitoring Officer would  be the sole decision taker but would act  in 
consultation with one independent member 
and

 The delegation would apply to applications from an individual Member 
whereas  groups of Members seeking the same dispensation for the same 

19



meeting (for example from several members of City Executive Board) would 
still be required to seek dispensation from the Standards Committee. 

Legal implications
12.Any legal implications arising from the legislation (The Localism Act 2011, Section 

33) are set out in the body of this report.  

Financial implications
13.None. 

Risk management
14.Not putting in place the recommended general dispensations would mean that 

every Member would need to apply for a personal dispensation when the relevant 
matters arose. Not putting in place the recommended delegation would mean that it 
might not be possible for applications for a personal dispensation to be considered 
and acted upon in a timely manner. This would not be an efficient use of the 
Council’s resources or in the public interest.

Report author Catherine Phythian

Job title Committee and Members Services Officer
Service area or department Law and Governance
Telephone 01865 252402  
e-mail cphythian@oxford.gov.uk 

20

mailto:cphythian@oxford.gov.uk


.

To: Standards Committee
Date: 11 September 2018
Report of: Monitoring Officer 
Title of Report: Members’ Code of Conduct: Standards report

Summary and recommendations
Purpose of report: To advise the Committee of the number of complaints 

received under the Members’ Code of Conduct from 1 
November 2017 until 31 August 2018 which have or 
are to be considered by the Head of Law and 
Governance (in her statutory capacity as the 
authority’s Monitoring Officer) and the Independent 
Persons. The report also notes the outcome, where 
complaints have been concluded.

Key decision: No

Recommendation: 
That the Standards Committee notes the content of the report.

Introduction and background 
1. In compliance with legislation relating to the standards and conduct of elected 

councillors, the Council has in place complaints handling arrangements to enable 
an individual to make a formal complaint that an elected or co-opted member of the 
City Council, or of a Parish Council within the City Council’s area, has failed to 
comply with the authority’s Members’ Code of Conduct.

2. In summary there are two stages to the complaints handling arrangements:

 Stage 1: The complaint will be assessed and a decision made by the Council’s 
Monitoring Officer in consultation with an Independent Person as to the next 
steps.  At this stage the options open to the Monitoring Officer are:  

 Investigation – refer the matter for formal investigation;
 Other action - such as informal resolution, acceptance of an apology 

or training; or
 No action – complaint dismissed.

 Stage 2:   If the complaint has been referred for independent investigation.  The 
Monitoring Officer will consider the findings of the investigation and, in 

21

Agenda Item 9



consultation with the Independent Person(s), determine what action to take.  At 
this stage the options open to the Monitoring Officer are:  

 Local Hearing – complaint to be determined by the Standards 
Committee;

 Local Resolution - a fair resolution of the complaint which is 
acceptable to all parties; or

 No action - complaint dismissed as no breach of the Code of Conduct.

3. The Standards Committee is responsible for promoting high standards of ethical 
behaviour by developing, maintaining and monitoring the Members’ Code of 
Conduct.  It does this by considering this report from the Monitoring Officer which 
identifies any issues or learning points arising from the complaints received. 

Complaints made against Members of Oxford City Council or Parish Council
4. Since the last meeting of the Standards Committee on 1 November 2017 up to and 

including 31 August 2018 the Monitoring Officer has received three complaints. Two 
of these complaints concerned Oxford City Councillors, whilst the other one related 
to members of a parish council.  

5. Of the three complaints received, the following paragraphs of the Oxford City 
Council Members’ Code of Conduct were identified as allegedly having been 
breached:

No. receivedParagraph Behaviour
City Parish

3 Selflessness
4 Objectivity
5 Accountability
6 Openness
7 Honesty and Integrity 2
8 Leadership 1

General Obligations
9 Respect for others 1 1

10 Bullying
11 Impartiality 2
12 Confidential information
13 Knowledge
14 Professional advice 1
15 Council resources

16 - 19 Registering and declaring interests

Note: the numbers may not tally with the number of complaints received as a 
complainant may identify none or more than one paragraph in their complaint.

6. The Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Independent Person(s), considered 
each of the two complaints against the Oxford City Councillors. The second 
complaint against members of a parish council is still active and further information 
is required before this can be assessed. The decision of the Monitoring Officer, 
following consultation with the Independent Person(s), was:

22



Action City Parish
No action no further action should be taken in respect of the 

allegation
1 0

Informal 
resolution

Referred to the Monitoring Officer and/or Group 
Leader for informal resolution

0 0

Investigation Referred for formal external investigation 1 0

Referral Referred to the police or other regulatory agency 0 0

7. No common issues or learning points were identified in relation to these two 
complaints.

Legal implications
8. The Localism Act 2011 requires the Council to have a Code of Conduct which sets 

out the standards expected of Members whenever they act in their official capacity. 
The Code must also have in place a suitable procedure at a local level to 
investigate and determine allegations against elected Members and co-opted 
Members. The Council is also responsible for having arrangements in place to 
investigate and determine allegations against Parish Councillors.

Financial implications
9. There is a cost to the authority when a complaint is referred for external 

investigation this is determined by market factors in terms of the availability of 
investigators identified through complaint procurement processes.

Risk management
10. If the Council fails to adopt and maintain a Code of Conduct and process for the 

investigation of complaints which is fit for purpose, robust and transparent then 
there are risks to the Council’s reputation and also to the integrity of its corporate 
governance and decision-making processes as it will not be compliant with 
legislation.

Report author Catherine Phythian

Job title Committee and Members Services Officer
Service area or department Law and Governance
Telephone 01865 252402  
e-mail cphythian@oxford.gov.uk 

23

mailto:cphythian@oxford.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Oxford City Council 

Code of Members’ Conduct 
1. This code of conduct is adopted pursuant to the council’s duty to promote and

maintain high standards of conduct by members and co-opted members1 of the
council.

2. This code applies to you as a member or co-opted member of this council when
you act in that role and it is your responsibility to comply with the provisions of
this code.

SELFLESSNESS 
3. You must serve only the public interest and must never improperly confer an

advantage or disadvantage on any person including yourself.

OBJECTIVITY 
4. In carrying out public business you must make decisions on merit, including when

making appointments, awarding contracts, or recommending individuals for
rewards or benefits.

ACCOUNTABILITY 
5. You are accountable for your decisions and actions to the public and must submit

yourself to whatever scrutiny is appropriate to your office.

OPENNESS 
6. You must be as open as possible about your actions and those of your council,

and must be prepared to give reasons for those actions.

HONESTY AND INTEGRITY 
7. You must not place yourself in situations where your honesty and integrity may

be questioned, must not behave improperly and must on all occasions avoid the
appearance of such behaviour.

1   A “co-opted member” for the purpose of this code is, as defined in the Localism Act section 27 (4) 
“a person who is not a member of the council but who 
a) is a member of any committee or sub-committee of the council, or
b) is a member of, and represents the council on, any joint committee or joint sub-committee of
the council;
and who is entitled to vote on any question that falls to be decided at any meeting of that committee
or sub committee”.

25



LEADERSHIP 
8. You must promote and support high standards of conduct when serving in your

public post, in particular as characterised by the above requirements, by
leadership and example in a way that secures or preserves public confidence.

GENERAL OBLIGATIONS 

9. You must treat others with respect and ensure that you are aware of and comply
with all legal obligations that apply to you as a member or co-opted member of
the council and act within the law;

10. You must not bully2 any person.

11. You must not do anything that compromises or is likely to compromise the
impartiality of those who work for, or on behalf of the council.

12. You must not disclose information given to you in confidence by anyone, or
information acquired by you of which you are aware, or ought reasonably to be
aware, is of a confidential nature except where:

(i) you have the consent of a person authorised to give it;
(ii) you are required by law to do so;
(iii) the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of obtaining

professional legal advice provided that the third party agrees not to
disclose the information to any other person, or

(iv) the disclosure is:
a) reasonable and in the public interest;
b) made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable

requirements of the council.

13. You must not improperly use knowledge gained solely as a result of your role as
a member for your own personal advantage.

14. When making decisions on behalf of or as part of the council you must have
regard to any professional advice provided to you by the council’s officers.

15. When using or authorising the use by others of the resources of the council:

(i) you must act in accordance with the council’s reasonable requirements;
(ii) you must make sure that you do not use resources improperly for political

purposes and do not use them at all for party political purposes.

2 Bullying is defined as offensive, intimidating, malicious, insulting or humiliating behaviour which 
attempts to undermine, hurt or humiliate an individual or group. It can have a damaging effect on a 
victim’s confidence, capability and health. Bullying conduct can involve behaving in an abusive or 
threatening way, or making allegations about people in public, in the company of their colleagues, 
through the press or in blogs. It may happen once or be part of a pattern of behaviour, although minor 
isolated incidents are unlikely to be considered bullying. 

26



REGISTERING AND DECLARING INTERESTS  

16. You must, within 28 days of taking office as a member or co-opted member,
notify the council’s monitoring officer of any disclosable pecuniary interest as
defined by regulations made by the Secretary of State, where the pecuniary
interest is yours, your spouse’s or civil partner’s, or is the pecuniary interest of
somebody with whom you are living with as a husband or wife, or as if you were
civil partners.

17. You must disclose the interest at any meeting of the council at which you are
present,  where you have a disclosable interest in any matter being considered
and where the  matter is not a ‘sensitive interest3’.

18. Following any disclosure of an interest not on the council’s register or the subject
of pending notification, you must notify the monitoring officer of the interest within
28 days beginning with the date of disclosure.

19. Unless dispensation has been granted, you may not participate in any discussion
of, vote on, or discharge any function related to any matter in which you have a
pecuniary interest as defined by regulations made by the Secretary of State.  You
must withdraw from the room or chamber when the meeting discusses and votes
on the matter.

3 A “sensitive interest” is described in the Localism Act 2011 as a member or co-opted member of a 
council having an interest, and the nature of the interest being such that the member or co-opted 
member, and the council’s monitoring officer, consider that disclosure of the details of the interest 
could lead to the member or co-opted member, or a person connected with the member or co-opted 
member, being subject to violence or intimidation. 

27



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Update on ethical standards and Oxford City Council's response to the Committee on Standards in Public Life - Local Government Ethical Standards Consultation
	Appendix 1 - Oxford City Council response to Ethical Standards consultation

	6 Appointment of a Parish Council representative as a non-voting member of the Standards Committee
	Briefing note - Nominations for appointment of PC rep to Standards Committee
	Briefing note - nominations for Parish Council rep on the Standards Committee
	Oxford City Council Standards Committee


	7 Arrangements for the appointment of Independent Persons to the Standards Committee in 2019
	8 Dispensations - Localism Act 2011
	9 Code of Conduct Standards Report
	Appendix 1 - Members Code of Conduct
	Oxford City Council
	Code of Members’ Conduct
	SELFLESSNESS
	OBJECTIVITY
	ACCOUNTABILITY
	OPENNESS
	HONESTY AND INTEGRITY
	LEADERSHIP
	GENERAL OBLIGATIONS 





